

# POST-DISASTER RECOVERY GUIDELINES

**June 2012** 



### **CONTENTS**

- I. Objective
- II. Context
- III. Sustainable Recovery: Towards a Conceptual Framework
- **IV.** Guiding Principles
  - 1. Mainstreaming disaster risk reduction in the recovery/development process
  - 2. Improving/maintaining coordination
  - 3. Promoting participatory approaches and decentralized planning and programming for recovery
  - 4. Enhancing safety standards and integrating risk reduction in reconstruction and development
  - 5. Improving the living conditions of the affected communities and sectors
  - 6. Building local and national capacities for increased resilience, risk management and sustainable development
  - 7. Taking advantage of ongoing initiatives
  - 8. Gender sensibility
  - 9. Demonstrative Effects
  - 10. Monitoring, evaluating and learning

### V. Planning for Recovery

- 1. Rehabilitation/recovery of built environment and local infrastructure
- 2. Employment and livelihoods
- 3. Primary infrastructure and lifeline facilities
- 4. Environmental and water resources management
- 5. Housing
- 6. Resettlement of families

### **VI. Setting-up Appropriate Institutional Arrangements**

### I. OBJECTIVE

The present document aims at providing guiding principles and approaches for the immediate post-disaster recovery phase, based on experiences and lessons learnt by UNDP in recovery operations over the past five years. It also attempts to outline an institutional framework for recovery, in the hope that countries with frequent or recurrent disasters will be encouraged to consider more permanent arrangements, with clear institutional roles and responsibilities for recovery as part of their broader risk reduction, disaster preparedness and contingency planning process.

The document describes the context in which recovery normally occurs, provides a conceptual framework, guiding principles and steps to follow to facilitate recovery planning in the aftermath of a disaster.

### **II. CONTEXT**

The number of people affected by disasters grows annually. In the last two decades, more than 1.5 million people have been killed by natural disasters. In 2011 alone, some 29,782 people died in more than 302 disasters, which affected 206 million people and resulted in economic losses of over US\$366 billion.

Recurrent natural disasters disrupt economic political and social systems and are contributing to a steady and increasing erosion of development gains in a growing number of countries. Successive natural disasters are pushing many countries into a downward spiral, where losses outweigh limited development gains and the disaster risk continues to accumulate. Increasing disaster loss will seriously compromise and undermine the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals unless decisive action is taken to reduce disaster risk. This is especially true in Small Island Developing Countries (SID's) where one single event can wipe out hard-earned development progress.

At the same time, disasters offer unique, though transient, opportunities for change. When appropriate technical support is provided early to recovery efforts, risk management and reduction considerations can be factored into all recovery initiatives from the beginning, avoiding the reconstruction of risk and addressing the underlying causes.

Conventional approaches to recovery often fail to grasp these opportunities:

- Response to disasters is still dominated by humanitarian assistance and emergency management. While vital to
  mitigate loss of life and suffering, emergency relief does not address the underlying causes that resulted in the disaster,
  nor does it automatically stimulate rapid recovery. In a number of situations response may even exacerbate the
  underlying causes of vulnerability.
- The long time spans required for the necessary impact studies, the design of programmes and projects, the negotiation of multilateral loans for reconstruction and the timeframe for the approval of development funding generates a *gap* between the ending of humanitarian assistance and the initiation of reconstruction programming in which affected people are usually left without support for recovery
- Reconstruction is frequently conceptualised and designed to return a country to the conditions of the normal
  development it enjoyed before a disaster occurred. This too often leads to rebuilding the conditions of risk which
  existed before the disaster, thus preparing the ground for future disasters and possibly contributing to increase the
  country's debt levels with large reconstruction loans.
- Similarly, during the *gap*, people begin to recover spontaneously, rebuilding and reproducing conditions even more risk prone than those that existed before the disaster occurred.
- In some cases, the longer-term reconstruction never gets off the ground, or is considerably delayed because of the lack of execution capacity in the immediate aftermath of a disaster, political obstacles to loan agreements, a lack of donor interest in funding longer-term recovery and reconstruction, or the outbreak of new crises. This prolongs the *gap* until the next disaster occurs.
- Support to recovery by government organizations, international agencies, NGO's and others is often done through
  isolated and uncoordinated interventions, leading to a duplication of efforts in some areas, gaps in others and again a
  failure to factor in risk reduction considerations.

• Too often, societies affected by a major disaster tend to seek rapid and visible solutions to restore normalcy, frequently at the cost of more sustainable and durable solutions that truly address the root causes of the disaster. There is a high risk that in the haste usually associated with the return to normalcy, the "tyranny of rush" works against grasping the opportunities for change, risk reduction and sustainable development.

### III. SUSTAINABLE RECOVERY: TOWARDS A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

The International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (ISDR) defines recovery as the "decisions and actions taken after a disaster with a view to restoring or improving the pre-disaster living conditions of the stricken community, while encouraging and facilitating necessary adjustments to reduce disaster risk".

Recovery is therefore about shifting focus from saving lives to restoring livelihoods, effectively preventing the recurrence of disasters and harnessing conditions for future development. The ensuing transition process will require restoring trust and confidence as much as regaining human and physical developing capital. Managing recovery will require building national capacities, restoring coping mechanisms, empowering communities and determining root causes and vulnerabilities which make societies disaster-prone.

Experiences show that it is possible to close the gap between relief and development and transform disasters into opportunities for sustainable development, when efforts are made to support local and national recovery process at an early stage, when risk reduction considerations are factored into all recovery activities and when the synergies between development, humanitarian and other actors involved in the response phase are properly captured.

Recovery should be conceived as an integral part of ongoing developmental process at all levels: national, regional, and local. The context in which it will take place will be necessarily shaped by the prevailing social and economic conditions and the vulnerability levels of the affected states and communities before, during and after the disaster. Recovery thus focuses on how best to restore the capacity of the government and communities to rebuild and recover from disasters and to prevent relapses. The opportunity should be seized to reduce development deficits of the affected areas and not to simply replace the damaged infrastructure.

The recovery process can also improve the institutional and legislative systems in place to manage and reduce disaster risk, including the broader management functions such as leadership, planning, organizing, developing and controlling disaster preparedness and response, risk management and reduction. Lessons-learnt from a recent disaster experience can help identify major institutional and systemic shortcomings and introduce new approaches that will help reduce the risk of future disasters.

### **IV. GUIDING PRINCIPLES**

The UNDP approach to sustainable recovery is guided by the recognition that capacities, activities and approaches designed on the ground as early as possible can mould recovery as an opportunity to initiate a process that transforms at it repairs. Disaster risk reduction and the promotion of development that is participatory and equitable are at the heart of the sustainability sought in any sound recovery programme. Considering the recurrent nature of many natural hazards, capacity building should always quide recovery actions, even in ad-hoc interventions.

The following principles attempt to guide the process so that, while addressing the most pressing needs of the affected population, all opportunities for change are seized to achieve the desired sustainability of the recovery effort.

### 1. Mainstreaming disaster risk reduction in the recovery/development process

The integration of risk reduction concerns into all aspects and proposals of the redevelopment process is essential to achieve the overarching goal of sustainable recovery. A small window of opportunity usually exists for this integration to take place in the aftermath of a major disaster, in several fronts. Although all of the actions and principles indicated in this paper eventually contribute to the mainstreaming of risk reduction in the recovery process, there are a few basic pre-requisites for this mainstreaming to occur successfully. Firstly the recovery process must be backed by an approved government policy, an enabling national system, the appropriate tools and the advocacy among all the actors including civil society.

The establishment of an integrated institutional framework for recovery can exercise a positive influence on the country's organisational setting for disaster risk reduction by demonstrating the effectiveness of inter-disciplinary, multi-stakeholder approaches. In setting the stage for effective mainstreaming this opportunity must be seized to:

- Strengthen national systems for disaster risk reduction, by undertaking a review of the system of organisational structures, mechanisms and processes, strategies, laws and regulations, resources and procedures at all levels of administration, in the light of their performance during the recent disaster.
- Review existing policy, or develop new policy as necessary. Promoting the establishment of a national recovery policy that is firmly entrenched in the existing national policy for disaster risk reduction. In the absence of an overarching risk reduction policy framework, strongly advocating for the endorsement of one that becomes part of the country's national sustainable development plans for all sectors and at all levels of government, i.e. local, regional and national.

### STRENGTHENING NATIONAL SYSTEMS IN NICARAGUA AFTER HURRICANE MITCH

In the aftermath of Hurricane Mitch, which struck Nicaragua in 1998, the early recovery stage presented a window of opportunity for improving interinstitutional coordination and summoning a greater number of development stakeholders to permanently integrate disaster reduction in the country's development processes. Resulting from the reviews, studies, and assessments carried out in the wake of this large-scale disaster (review of regional crisis management model, studies on Nicaragua's legal framework concerning disasters, and analysis of response by crisis management entities), was a new national legal framework for disaster reduction and a new institutional structure to execute the risk reduction activities - the National System for Disaster Prevention, Mitigation, and Attention (SINAPRED), which submerged through a Preparatory Assistance project that relied on the support of UNDP-BCPR. Some of the main factors contributing to the success of this project

- The initiative of the UNDP Country Office to capture the window of opportunity presented by the awareness created in government and civil society to promote the establishment of a new policy on risk reduction;
- A strong commitment of high levels of government and the UNDP Country Office; and
- A participatory approach involving different territorial levels and stakeholders, including more than 300 actors from ministries, municipalities, universities, civil society, and international organizations, among others.
- Ensure that appropriate information about disaster risk is available and is taken into consideration in all aspects
  of the decision making process and that appropriate measures to manage and reduce risks are included in
  recovery programming.

### RISK REDUCTION THROUGH EDUCATION AND COMMUNICATION AFTER GOMA VOLCANO ERUPTION IN THE CONGO

Availability and provision of key information was at the heart of the UN interagency programme (UNDP-BCPR, ISDR, OCHA) established in the Goma area of the Congo after the eruption of Volcano Nyiragongo in January of 2002, and its subsequent renewal of activity in November of the same year. Responding to the potential risk that this constant volcanic activity poses on the population and the environment, the programme was designed to coordinate and integrate disaster reduction capacity-building/strengthening activities within the Goma area through the following:

- permanent support to the Goma Volcano Observatory, including capacity strengthening of GVO staff and support to hazard and risk assessments;
- building of integrated risk management (surveillance, monitoring) tools, namely early warning systems (EWS);
- increasing participation and commitment of local authorities and civil society; and
- public education and school preparedness programmes to integrate disaster reduction concerns into communities.

Through these activities, a number of important achievements were obtained and lessons learned, including the following:

- Volcano emergencies are "non-ending emergencies" that put people at risk for many years, decades, or even centuries;
- As the only response to volcano emergencies is permanent surveillance and vigilance, coupled with permanent community awareness, education and communications must be constant;
- Communication has proven to be much more effective when *specific* tools are developed to remedy *specific* problems or to suit *specific* populations; and
- Developing such activities in an area of conflict, where the interest of the population and authorities changes based on the different local dangers and problems they are facing, can pose a serious challenge.

 Establish broad-based advocacy for risk management and disaster reduction as integral components of the country's future national and sectoral development planning.

### FORMULATION OF STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK FOR DISASTER REDUCTION IN AFTERMATH OF HURRICANE JEANNE

After Hurricane Jeanne hit the Dominican Republic in September of 2004, a broad-based advocacy approach was essential in the resulting establishment of the Strategic Framework for the Reduction of Disasters and Disaster Preparedness (MERVPD per its acronym in Spanish), to be carried out by government authorities during the 2004-2008 term. The UNDP office, with BCPR, supported the country in its post-disaster activities, and supported the government specifically in the recovery process with a risk reduction focus. Within this framework, they aimed at promoting the inclusion of risk reduction in national, sectoral, and territorial development processes and developing a disaster prevention culture. Through a highly participatory formulation process that stimulated the participation of a total of seventy (70) entities, actions that were initially directed at recovery efforts were channeled towards risk reduction. Other important achievements include:

- the establishment of a high level, multisectoral Coordination Committee to develop the Strategic Framework;
- the development of a culture and adequate institutional context for the sufficient and proper use of threat and risk information; and
- the development of territorial and urban planning processes and subsequent cultural and planning-related applications.

Considered important lessons learned from this initiative are:

- promoting the transfer of successful experiences from one country to another;
- establishing strategic partnerships between specialized entities (e.g. ECLAC/BCPR);
- placing emphasis on learning about the planning and management processes of each sector and identifying actual possibilities for risk management to be converted into concrete application plans; and
- taking advantage of the post-disaster setting to promote longer-term disaster reduction interventions.
- Develop specific projects to build capacities in the government and civil society to manage and reduce disaster risk.

### 2. Improving/maintaining coordination

The aftermath of a major disaster is frequently characterised by a multiplicity of actors, national and international, promoting and initiating recovery activities. Coordination and information sharing thus become even more essential to avoid duplications and gaps and to optimise the resources available for sustainable recovery.

Information exchange and coordination mechanisms established during the emergency must be maintained and enhanced to constitute a permanent dialogue and consensus building mechanism with government agencies, civil society, cooperation agencies, donors and lending institutions, where priorities are defined and an adequate picture of who-is-doing-what-where is drawn and systematically updated.

Ideally, this should constitute a platform for the strong, inter-sectoral coordination required to facilitate the coordination of a large number of initiatives at the local, regional and national scales, allowing multiple stakeholders to work together with synergy.

#### LOCAL RISK MANAGEMENT CAPACITY-BUILDING IN BOLIVIA

The high vulnerability level of La Paz was evidenced when a sudden and violent hailstorm hit the city in February of 2002. In response, a State of Emergency was declared and the Municipal authorities implemented two fundamental and innovative actions in the name of developing specific government and civil society capacity-building projects in disaster risk management and reduction: (i)the conformation of an inter-institutional entity for consultancy, coordination, organization, and conduction of all actions required for risk reduction in the municipality; and (ii)the creation of a programme for risk prevention, emergency management, and recovery; both of which saw fruition thanks to the commitment and political will of the Mayor of L a Paz. Some key achievements resulting from this initiative are:

- the establishment of a Risk Management Unit;
- the formulation of a Municipal Risk Management Strategy;
- the updating of natural threat maps;
- the designing of a GIS-based risk management information system;
- the development of an Early Warning System for sudden floods;
- the realization of the first ever integral Citizen's campaign on Disaster Prevention in the city; and
- the consolidation and mainstreaming of risk management in all development plans and projects.

Moreover, due to the important and innovative risk management rogramme that was implemented, the La Paz City Hall was honored with a Certificate of Merit for the United Nations' Sasakawa Disaster Reduction Award. Among the challenges noted from this experience was the lesson that local risk management, accompanied by adequate environmental management, is the best way to achieve sustainable development in the Municipality of La Paz.

National consultation mechanisms and priority determination activities such as a national workshop, contribute to building consensus around recovery priorities, roles, responsibilities and resources.

# 3. Promoting participatory approaches and dcentralised planning and programing for recovery

Recovery programming must be made on the basis of a sound, participatory assessment of needs and capacities of the affected population, so that the local initiative, resources and capacities are fully understood and utilised. It must be demand driven and designed to reach the most vulnerable population.

The risk assessment exercise described in (4) below becomes crucial for determining the level and causes of vulnerability that should be addressed with the recovery endeavours.

The planning, programming and execution of local level recovery initiatives does not require the complex and time consuming impact and feasibility studies and planning processes of national level long-term reconstruction planning, enabling recovery activities to begin as early as possible after the disaster.

## 4. Enhancing safety standards and integrating risk reduction in reconstruction and development

All recovery programmes and proposals must aim at improving safety standards and reducing risk, avoiding the danger of rebuilding previous vulnerabilities or creating new risks. This brings the need for risk assessment to the forefront of recovery planning requirements. As a minimum, the following should be ensured:

- All recovery proposals are supported by multi-hazard risk assessment information, to the maximum extent
  possible, and developed with the institutions involved and the participation of targeted population in order to
  guarantee their ownership in the implementation of the framework. Recovery criteria should be developed on
  the basis of the general hazard profile of the affected communities and not only on extreme events, climatic or
  otherwise.
- Damage assessment includes diagnostics of underlying causes of damage and failure
- Establish consensual criteria on acceptable levels of risk

### 5. Improving the living conditions of the affected communities and sectors

Recovery activities should contribute to improving the living conditions of the affected communities and sectors through the revival of production (agriculture, industry), trade and services, and the creation of incomegeneration/employment opportunities. The goal should go beyond the simple restoration of pre-disaster levels, but aim towards the creation of more sustainable livelihoods for the population.

#### INSTITUTIONAL STRENGTHENING TO SUSTAIN RISK MANAGEMENT EFFORTS IN BOLIVIA

The March 2003 landslide in Chima, La Paz, demonstrated the lack of capacity of the Provincial entity of the Department of La Paz (PDLP) and the Tipuani Municipal Government (GMT) to respond to disasters. Furthermore, both the PDLP and the GMT were perceived to be lacking the capacity to recognize the risk of the Department of La Paz, as well as the absence of policies, plans and coordination mechanisms with other actors. In response to the disaster, the Central Government called for assistance from international cooperation agencies, requesting support from the UNDP to coordinate the assistance. Within that context, a BCPR mission recommended an institutional strengthening and consolidation of institutional capacities of the PDLP and the GMT in risk management at the regional level, with the intention that these reinforced institutional conditions would push the risk management theme onto the departmental and municipal development agenda through its two instruments: (i)the Departmental Development Program (PDD); and (ii)the Tipuani Municipal Development Plan (PDM).

Through the activities of this initiative, the following was achieved:

- the creation of a risk management coordination office at the PDLP;
- the establishment of an Early Warning System;
- the inclusion of risk management at the Bolivia Productive National Dialogue Departmental Table;
- the building of awareness of PDLP authorities that make decisions on risk management;
- the involvement of political entities in risk management; and
- the establishment of a coordinating entity for the solution of problems between community demands and State response.

In addition, it was ascertained that the success of this kind of initiative depends on the involvement of the highest PDLP authorities, as well as their political will to closely follow-up on the progress made.

# 6. Building local and national capacities for increased resilience, risk management and sustainable development

Achieving the goal of building local and national capacities implies that external technical assistance must complement existing capacities, be conceived as supportive and not directive, and must entail transfer of technology, know-how and capacities for increased resilience, risk management and sustainable development.

In the aftermath of a major disaster, the following areas may be considered for targeted capacity building activities:

• Strengthening local level capacities for disaster risk management, including the formulation/revision of national disaster preparedness plans which include recovery planning arrangements, hazard and risk mapping, training and simulation exercises.

### STRENGTHENING CAPACITIES IN SIX (6) NICARAGUAN MUNICIPALITIES AFTER HURRICANE MITCH

Taking into account the fact that large scale disasters, rather than affecting *entire regions*, can more accurately be described as the result of hundreds of small disasters that constantly affect *different areas in a region*, one of the projects developed in the aftermath of Hurricane Mitch - which struck different parts of Central America in October of 1998, was designed to strengthen local capacities in disaster risk management in Nicaragua *at the municipal level*. Consequently, the recently established National System for Disaster Prevention, Mitigation, and Attention (SINAPRED), along with UNDP Nicaragua and the BCPR, promoted the realization of the project "Support for Local Level Risk Management in 6 municipalities of Nicaragua within the framework of SINAPRED." The objective of the project was to support the functioning of SINAPRED in the municipal environment through the development of disaster prevention, mitigation, and attention actions; and more specifically to: (i) provide support to six (6) municipalities in the development of their risk reduction plans, creating a clear linkage to their development plans; and (ii) develop a working method for the organization, management, and development of SINAPRED on local level risk management. Through the project's activities, the following was achieved:

- A generation of decision-makers, technicians and local actors all responsible for their own municipalities' development management - received training and sensitivity-building;
- Capacities in the Municipality were strengthened for (i)utilizing existing materials such as risk maps and studies in decision-making processes, and (ii)integrating risk reduction criteria into municipal measures; and
- A work methodology for incorporating the risk variable into municipal planning processes was contributed to SINAPREDand the municipalities of Nicaragua.
- The development of early warning capacities, particularly at the local level, integrated with national and regional monitoring and weather forecasting systems
- Risk, vulnerability and capacity assessment tools for incorporation into the decision making process.
- General training and human resource development activities for risk reduction.

#### STRENGTHENING EARLY WARNING CAPACITIES IN CUBA AFTER RECURRENT FLOODING

Strengthening early warning systems and local level capacities for their use was one of the essential elements in a project developed in Cuba by the UNDP as part of the IV DIPECHO Action Plan. As a result of recurrent coastal floods, Cuban Civil Defense authorities, together with the Movement for Peace, Disarmament, and Liberty (MPDL), pinpointed a work strategy based on the development of risk management at the local level. With a focus on the City of Havana, the UNDP/DIPECHO project was designed to help improve the quality of life of the population and the preservation of their social and economic achievements through the reduction of risks due to floods. Through the project, actions for risk reduction in settlements - utilizing an early warning system, and the roles of each actor in these actions, were defined through a consensus of inter-institutional, inter-sectoral coordination, a method favored in light of the leadership and responsibility of municipal governments with regards to risk management. Activities such as: (i)the preparation of a survey on danger, vulnerability and risk due to coastal floods; (ii)the strengthening of the Early Warning System for extreme meteorological events (including coastal floods); and (iii)the strengthening of response and risk management capacity in the municipality and the population, led to significant achievements:

- the timely access of municipalities and all competent institutions to meteorological and Civil Defense information;
- the facilitation of decision-making in the integral development process of municipalities and response to extreme meteorological events through GIS application; and
- the creation of permanent Municipal Direction Posts for disaster cases in the 5 municipalities.

Moreover, the experience determined the following lessons:

- Access by municipalities to information allows for decision-making processes in risk management to be carried out at the local level.
- As inter-institutional and inter-sectoral coordination and participation is a complex process, and a determining one in the development and implementation of local risk management actions, it must be led by the highest municipal authority; and
- The use of adequate technology over advanced technology can better guarantee the sustainability of all actions.

### 7. Taking advantage of ongoing initiatives

The recovery process represents an opportunity to review on-going development initiatives and reorient as necessary and feasible in order to contribute to building resilience and capacities in the affected communities. As a minimum, ongoing initiatives should be reviewed to ensure that they do not contribute to the further accumulation of risk.

### 8. Gender sensitivity

Gender inequality indirectly affects entire communities. The process recovery is an opportunity to reduce vulnerability of social groups and increase gender equality. Particular attention should be paid in the assessment, planning and programming stages for recovery, to the vital role that women play as community members and leaders, their contribution to the livelihoods sector especially through the informal channels and the special problems they face, such as property rights and being heads of households in particularly difficult circumstances. This will lead to the identification of adequate, gender sensitive programming in the recovery process facilitating the contribution of this group to the economic recuperation and social reconstruction process.

### GENDER PERSPECTIVES IN RECOVERY PROCESS AFTER 2001 EL SALVADOR EARTHQUAKES

A research study on gender perspectives in recovery processes carried out in the aftermath of the 2001 earthquakes in El Salvador, sought to: (I) establish a methodology for mainstreaming gender into the ECLAC socio-economic assessment of disaster damages; and (ii) make a quantification of damages related to the informal economy of women who lost their homes. Through the activities developed to reach these objectives, a number of important achievements were gained, including:

- the incorporation of a gender perspective into the new ECLAC manual for socioeconomic impact evaluation, with the support of UNDP El Salvador;
- the visibility and economic validation of the impact of disasters on especially vulnerable groups, such as rural and urban marginalized women; and
- the establishment of a methodology for replicating research on gender perspectives in recovery processes in other situations.

Moreover, the research process revealed a number of lessons to take into account for future opportunities to build a better society through the reduction of vulnerabilities of social groups and the increase of gender equality:

- During the emergency and rehabilitation stages after a disaster, women extend their reproductive role from the family to the community with nonremunerative, non-core decision-making duties.
- In quantifying the loss in a household, there must exist the understanding that
  the house in not only a place for living, but also a productive area for women,
  which plays a key role in their social and economic relations in the community.
- Gender considerations are often blind in damage assessments and usually absent in financial proposals and recovery programmes/projects, a fact which contributes to the poorest sectors staying below the poverty line on a permanent basis. This absence hinders gender equality, which directly affects the women causing a negative impact on their recovery capacity, while indirectly affecting the entire community as the women assume the majority of the basic social activities implemented by the government in the aftermath of a crisis. For this reason, it is important to understand that the reduction of gender inequality is vital to the reduction of social vulnerability to disasters. Gender aspects must be made visible in damage evaluations.

### 9. Demonstrative Effects

Local recovery initiatives may have important demonstration effects, building local and national capacities and piloting approaches that can then be factored into national development programmers.

### 10. Monitoring, evaluating and learning

Recovery programmes and plans must include appropriate, participatory monitoring and evaluation mechanisms that allow timely implementation of corrective measures, capturing the experience and the voices of the target population, building on the demonstrative effects, increasing effectiveness and learning.

### V. PLANNING FOR RECOVERY

The development of a recovery framework as early as possible following the disaster has proved to be a good practice in major recovery operations. The recovery framework is a strategic tool that identifies and prioritises programming needs based on a thorough assessment of damage, underlying causes, needs and capacities. It provides strategic guidance, facilitates the coordination of a large number of initiatives and the participation of multiple stakeholders.

The overall objectives of a recovery framework are:

- To organise the country's response and approach
- To review and stock-take regarding the recovery needs to get the community/country back on track towards sustainable development;
- To secure wide support, including financial and technical resources;
- To develop a partnership strategy for implementation with participation of multiple stakeholders, including the affected communities

The recovery strategy must be framed in a concrete period of time and contain strategic and precise actions in the larger framework of sustainable human development. It must combine long-term approaches with strategic, short- and medium-term interventions

Basic steps to launch the recovery planning process are:

- Defining the institutional framework and mechanisms to design, coordinate, implement and monitor the recovery programmes, ideally based on existing institutions and mechanisms (See desirable characteristics in IV-1, 2 and 3 above and VI below)
- Defining and endorsing a national recovery policy which clearly outlines the principles and desires of the country to guide all recovery activities. (See IV-1 above)
- Formulating the recovery framework, identifying needs, priorities and capacities
- Developing a recovery plan, detailing general and sectoral programmatic requirements • Defining a partnership strategy for implementation
- Determining implementation capacity and identifying surge capacity needs and potential sources.

### IMMEDIATE ESTABLISHMENT OF RECOVERY STRATEGY IN THE AFTERMATH OF COLOMBIA VOLCANO ERUPTION

In the case of Colombia after the eruption of the Nevado del Ruiz Volcano in November of 1985, which caused mudslides that affected several municipalities, the country did not have the necessary organization or preparation to confront the ramifications of such a disaster. In response, a UN Commission, in collaboration with the National Government, assessed the damages and - only a few days after the occurrence of the event - issued guidelines for the establishment of a strategic recovery programme that would be technically supported by UNDP with a strong disaster risk approach. The resulting agreement reached between UNDP and the Government had 7 specific objectives:

- 1. Institutional support;
- 2. Support to a monitoring and warning system in the volcano area;
- 3. Creation of a national disaster prevention and response system;
- 4. Housing construction;
- 5. Support to the linking of the population to formal employment;
- 6. Support to the reactivation of agricultural activities; and
- 7. Professional rehabilitation of disabled persons and their incorporation into productive activities.

The initiative succeeded in a number of aspects, including the following:

- The UN made important contributions from the beginning in defining the recovery and reactivation programme with an important preventive concept and technical advice throughout its execution;
- As the basic philosophy of UNDP was not to substitute the State, or its community organizations, all actions were executed in their totality by specialized State entities or by social or private organizations;
- The administration of resources by UNDP contributed greatly to the agility and transparency of their management;
- Social participation existed throughout the entire process;
- A national disaster prevention and response system was created, as well as a national monitoring and warning system that received international recognition.

Lessons learned from this experience revealed that:

- few, if any, Latin American and Caribbean countries are adequately prepared to carry out a recovery process after a large-scale disaster with efficiency and effectiveness, which makes UN support to governments in the planning and development of these processes immediately after the event of great benefit; and
- prompt formulation of recovery plans or programmes by governments can provide an important framework that fosters effective coordination among Cooperation Agencies and governments regarding the projects to be developed after the occurrence of disasters.

Some sectors typically addressed in a recovery framework are:

### 1. Rehabilitation/recovery of built environment and local infrastructure

Rehabilitation of damaged infrastructure should be seen as an opportunity to reduce the development deficit, to fulfill unmet needs and development objectives and to reduce disaster risk. Recovery activities may include focus on:

### 2. Employment and livelihoods

Recovery programmes should contribute to improve the living conditions of the affected population. Specific issues that may need addressing:

- Agriculture and livestock production, through the provision of seeds, tools, micro- credits, and other means
- Small business through the provision of credits or other means
- Recovery of and improvement of productive social infrastructure such as roads, markets, etc. which will support
  the economic activities
- The reconstruction of the housing sector using local technologies, construction materials, local know-how, to ensure that construction activities will have a direct positive impact upon the local economy.
- Consideration of short-term gender sensitive alternative employment generation to compensate lost livelihoods in the immediate post-disaster period.

### 3. Primary infrastructure and lifeline facilities

The rapid rehabilitation of primary infrastructure such as primary roads, bridges, water supply and sanitation systems, primary power generation and distribution facilities, irrigation and agricultural facilities, health, education and other social facilities, can contribute to a swift restoration and development of the affected region. The key for an effective rehabilitation programme is an accurate and thorough damage assessment, which will provide the necessary information on why this infrastructure was damaged or destroyed and will determine the modality of including risk reduction in their rehabilitation and reconstruction.

### 4. Environmental and water resources management

The cause-effect relationship between environmental degradation, poverty and disasters is complex and has been the subject of many studies. The continuous degradation of highly sensitive ecosystems leads to the increased occurrence and magnitude of landslides and floods with major physical, economic and social consequences. Thus, recovery should be used as an opportunity to enhance the management of water and environmental resources in order to reduce one of the major causes of future disasters. Several environmental restoration activities are, by their nature, significant contributors to reducing disaster risk and must be seriously taken into consideration in recovery planning. Some of these include cleaning of watersheds and reforestation programmes.

### 5. Resettlement of families and housing

Often, in the aftermath of a disaster, there is a growing concern among experts and government officials to promote a safer location for settlement of people at risk. Experience shows, however, that resettlement of population on new sites is a complex issue and presents major challenges.

If resettlement is being considered as an option, the following issues must be analysed:

- A resettlement programme should go beyond the provision of housing and should address other needs of the
  population such as social infrastructure, livelihoods and economic activities
- The programme needs to take into consideration the fundamental issues of disaster management and risk reduction. This requires more in-depth analysis of the new site with regard to hazards and risks. Risk mapping should be prepared prior to development of new site to avoid rebuilding risks
- Since people have often strong economic, social and cultural reasons that influence their choice of settlement and housing, it is important that the relocation decisions and selection of resettlement sites are made in a consultative manner with full participation of the affected communities. Communities need to be prepared and informed before they agree to accept voluntary relocation

• Appropriate mechanisms should be put in place to ensure secure land and housing tenure.

Human settlements/housing rehabilitation/reconstruction is a key element in closing the gap between emergency relief and sustainable recovery. It restores people's sense of normalcy and is a first step towards reactivating the productive economy. Building the capacity of local authorities to promote, supervise and guide planning and construction processes - within preventive land use regulations - is key for a successful and sustainable reconstruction process. Local authorities should be enabled to set up legislative and regulatory frameworks to promote local initiatives and local involvement in planning and construction issues.

The issues mentioned above may arise for human settlements and housing as well as the following issues:

- Land and property issues
- Financing
- Regulatory framework and institutional capacity building
- Labour and implementation
- Technology
- Architectural design culturally sensitive and oriented to needs of population
- Participation of targeted population (especially women) in the design and building process
- Construction material
- Building codes and practices
- Improving safety standards by locating in low risk areas.

### VI. SETTING-UP APPROPRIATE INSITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENT

While experience shows that it is best to mount the recovery and reconstruction effort on existing institutional frameworks, if a new structure is to be put in place, it should have the major objective of achieving a strong level of cohesion, coordination and consensus amongst different stakeholders, around:

- Definition of recovery/development policies, priorities and strategic guideline
- Formulation/implementation/oversight of recovery proposals
- Monitoring of progress
- Establishing a permanent dialogue and consensus space with civil society, opposition parties, private sector, international cooperation agencies, donors and lending agencies
- Maintain transparency, accountability and good governance in the process as well as a strategic communications and information campaign.

Specific recommendations on institutional arrangements of recovery and reconstruction, based on prior experience, include:

1) Any new structure should be very small, with clear roles and responsibilities shared politically and socially

- 2) It should be inserted in the current government structure and using existing capacities
- 3) An exit or assimilation strategy should be defined from the start, to allow the smooth transition between recovery, reconstruction and development
- 4) A coordination mechanism should not substitute stakeholder participation. Recovery stakeholders are *development* stakeholders and it is important to keep the development mentality with a fast-track implementation mechanism
- 5) Ad-hoc recovery bodies should be focused on developing coordination, monitoring and evaluation functions. Recovery programmes should be implemented through line ministries and public agencies, although with faster mechanisms.
- 6) The governing body should include cabinet members, line ministries and representatives of political stakeholders
- 7) A technical body should also be established, acting as a secretariat of the recovery and reconstruction structure. Line ministries and national implementing institutions should be represented in the secretariat, whose functions will be the technical oversight of the recovery/reconstruction activities.

The main challenge in devising an institutional arrangement for recovery and reconstruction is to combine a rapid implementation mechanism that does not undermine the existing institutional framework or affect ongoing good governance mechanisms.

In the aftermath of a major disaster, implementation capacity is an issue to be considered when planning for recovery. The actual capacity levels, the needs for surge capacity and the potential sources, must be defined very early in the process. The government of the affected countries may wish to consider arrangements for the provision of surge capacity from regional political mechanisms as well as from other countries as horizontal cooperation.